IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-973

LOWER TRIBUNAL No. 91-373

ANTONIO MELTON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

D. TODD DOSS Florida Bar No. 0910384 725 Southeast Baya Drive Suite 101 Lake City, Florida 32025-6092 Telephone: 386-755-9119 Facsimile: 386-755-3181

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's summarily denial of Mr. Melton's successive motion for postconviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 and 3.851.

# INTRODUCTION

On November 30, 2009, the United States Supreme Court decided Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009), and ruled that the Florida Supreme Court's Strickland<sup>1</sup> analysis utilized in Porter v. State, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001), was "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. at 455. Under the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act (AEDPA), the United States Supreme Court was required to give some deference to this Court's application of Strickland. It could not grant habeas relief from a state court judgment merely because it disagreed with the state court's application of federal constitutional law. Specifically, habeas relief could only be issued if this Court's Strickland analysis was not just wrong, but clearly and unreasonably wrong. It is in this context that the United States Supreme Court's ruling in Porter v. McCollum must be understood.

Mr. Melton's current appeal requires this Court to critically consider the significance and subsequent consequences of the decision in *Porter v. McCollum* and consider whether its analysis in *Porter v. State* was merely an aberration or was it indicative of a systemic failure by this Court to properly understand and apply *Strickland*.

In the relatively recent past, this Court has on two occasions assessed the effect to be accorded to a decision by the United States Supreme Court finding that this Court had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

misapprehended and misapplied United States Supreme Court precedent. In *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), the United States Supreme Court granted federal habeas relief because the Florida Supreme Court had failed to properly apply *Lockett v. Ohio*, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), and find Eighth Amendment error when a capital jury was not advised that it could and should consider non-statutory mitigating circumstances when returning an advisory verdict in a capital penalty phase proceeding.<sup>2</sup> In *Espinosa v. Florida*, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992), the United States Supreme Court summarily reversed a decision by the Florida Supreme Court which found that *Maynard v. Cartwright*, 486 U.S. 356 (1988), was not applicable in Florida because the jury's verdict in a Florida capital penalty phase proceedings was merely advisory.<sup>3</sup>

Following the decisions in *Hitchcock v. Dugger* and *Espinosa v. Florida*, the Florida Supreme Court was called upon to address whether other death sentenced individuals whose death sentences had also been affirmed by this Court due to the same misapprehension of federal law should arbitrarily be denied the benefit of the proper construction and application of federal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The AEDPA was not in effect at the time of the decision in *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, so there was no need for the United States Supreme Court to determine that the Florida Supreme Court's decision was clearly or unreasonably wrong. The United States Supreme Court's review in *Hitchcock* was *de novo*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The decision by the United States Supreme Court in *Espinosa v. Florida* was in the course of direct review of this Court's decision affirming a death sentence on direct appeal. The United States Supreme Court's decision was not through the prism of federal habeas review, and thus the United States Supreme Court employed *de novo* review.

constitutional law. On both occasions, this Court determined that fairness dictated that those, who had not received from this Court the benefit of the proper application of federal constitutional law, should be allowed to re-present their claims and have those claims judged under the proper constitutional standards. *See Thompson v. Dugger*, 515 So. 2d 173, 175 (Fla. 1987)("We hold we are required by this *Hitchcock* decision to re-examine this matter as a new issue of law"); *James v. State*, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993) (*Espinosa* to be applied retroactively to Mr. James because "it would not be fair to deprive him of the *Espinosa* ruling").

Mr. Melton, whose ineffective assistance of counsel claims were heard and decided by this Court before the *Porter v*. *McCollum* decision was rendered, seeks to have his ineffectiveness claims reheard and re-evaluated using the proper *Strickland* standard that the United States Supreme Court applied in Mr. Porter's case to find a re-sentencing was warranted.<sup>4</sup>

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 23, 1991, Antonio Melton and Bendleon Lewis were arrested for killing pawn shop owner George Carter. Thereafter, on February 5, 1991, Mr. Melton was charged by indictment for first degree murder and armed robbery with a firearm in this case (R. 1117).

On March 15, 1991, Lewis gave a statement to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>When Mr. Porter's case was returned to the circuit court for a re-sentencing, a life sentence was imposed.

authorities implicating Mr. Melton and a man named Tony Houston in another murder case, the killing of cab driver Ricky Saylor (T. 54, 57-58, 203). Mr. Melton was initially tried for the murder and armed robbery of Saylor, and a jury found him guilty on September 13, 1991. On November 6, 1991, Mr. Melton received two life sentences in the Saylor case (R. 924).<sup>5</sup>

Mr. Melton was tried before a jury in the Carter case on January 27, 1992. According to the testimony at trial, Lewis and Mr. Melton were caught inside the pawn shop immediately after Carter was shot (R. 501-02). Lewis stated that Mr. Melton alone had shot Carter, while Lewis was in another part of the pawn shop (R. 636). Mr. Melton stated that Carter's gun went off during a struggle for control of the weapon (R. 691-95). On January 30, 1992, Mr. Melton's jury returned verdicts of guilty of first degree felony murder and robbery with a firearm (R. 895-96, 1275-76).

During the penalty phase proceedings, the State utilized the Saylor conviction to secure a death sentence against Mr. Melton. The jury recommended death by a vote of eight (8) to four (4) (R. 1112, 1285). On May 19, 1992, the trial court imposed a sentence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>Mr. Melton's conviction in the Saylor case did not rest on any physical evidence or eye witness testimony from the crime scene. The only direct evidence to convict Mr. Melton of first degree murder and robbery was the testimony of co-defendant Tony Houston (R2. 396-401) and Ben Lewis, who was not charged in the murder.

In fact, the only physical evidence tying anyone to the scene was a fingerprint belonging to Tony Houston found on the back seat passenger door of the cab (R2. 337). Houston pled guilty to Second Degree Murder.

of death for the murder and life imprisonment on the armed robbery (R. 1380-1401, 1413-22).

In its sentencing order, the trial court relied on two aggravating circumstances, pecuniary gain and the prior violent felony from the Saylor case (R. 1394-95). Regarding the aggravating factor of a prior violent felony, the trial court found:

> The defendant was previously convicted 1. of another capital felony and of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person. The evidence established conclusively and beyond any reasonable doubt that the defendant was previously convicted of first degree murder and armed robbery. In that case, as in this case, the victim was killed by a shot to the head while the defendant was participating in the robbery of the victim. In both cases, the evidence established that the defendant fired the fatal shots. The violent crimes of which defendant were convicted were extremely violent and life-threatening, and resulted in the death of the victim. They were committed with no pretense of moral justification, for pecuniary gain, and with disregard to the life of the victim. The Court gives great weight to this aggravating circumstance.

(R. 1395).

While addressing the issue of mitigating circumstances, the court gave no weight to the defense's argument of disparate treatment of co-defendants, the defendant's domination by co-defendant Lewis, or that the death of Carter occurred under accidental circumstances:

3. Lenient treatment or disparate sentences, actual and inchoate, given to codefendants. The Court finds that no mitigating circumstance in this regard was proved by the greater weight of the evidence. Co-defendant Bendleon Lewis has not been sentenced in this case. There can be little doubt that Bendleon Lewis expects and will receive some degree of leniency (certainly less than a death sentence) for his cooperation, and considering the fact that the evidence conclusively establishes the defendant, and not Bendleon Lewis, as the trigger man who committed the actual killing in this case. There are legitimate reasons for imposition of a lesser sentence on Bendleon Lewis, and such lesser sentence would not be disparate or constitute a mitigating circumstance.

Not charging or prosecuting Bendleon Lewis in the death of Ricky Saylor is not lenient treatment and does not constitute a mitigating circumstance. The greater weight of the evidence proves that the State does not have sufficient valid evidence to do so; nor does failure of the State to prosecute Bendleon Lewis for perjury. Sentencing of codefendant Tony Houston in the prior case to twenty years imprisonment is not lenient or disparate treatment in <u>that</u> case, and would not be a mitigating circumstance in <u>this</u> case if it were. Again, in the prior case, Antonio Melton was proved to be the trigger man, not co-defendant Tony Houston, and legitimate reasons existed for differing sentences.

4. Defendant's domination by codefendant, Bendleon Lewis. This circumstance is not proved by the greater weight of the evidence, and has only the defendant's testimony to support it. The evidence is clear that the defendant voluntarily participated in this robbery and in fact armed himself with a firearm which he personally carried into the store to facilitate the robbery. There is no doubt from the evidence that he acted of his own volition and as a willing participant in the robbery. Defendant did not act under the substantial domination of any other person.

5. The death of Mr. Carter occurring under accidental circumstances. This circumstance was not proved by the greater weight of the evidence. It is supported only by the defendant's testimony and is inconsistent with most of the other evidence in this case. Mr. Carter had every right to resist, but the reliable evidence indicates that he did not do so - only the defendant's testimony. It is difficult to believe that, in a struggle, the victim was "accidentally" shot in the exact spot in the head that would produce immediate death. In the trial phase of the case, the jury had a reasonable doubt as to whether the killing was premeditated. However, in the penalty phase of the trial, it is evident that the jury rejected any contention that the shooting was "accidental" in recommending death by an eight to four vote.

(R. 1397-99)(emphasis in original).

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Melton's convictions and sentences. <u>Melton v.</u> <u>State</u>, 638 So. 2d 927 (Fla. 1994). Mr. Melton filed a petition for writ of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court, which was denied on October 31, 1994. <u>Melton v.</u> Florida, 115 S. Ct. 441 (1994).

Mr. Melton's initial Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 motion was filed on January 16, 1996 (PCR. 74-200). An amended motion was filed on July 5, 2001 (PCR. 907-1083). Following a Huff hearing on October 18, 2001, the circuit court granted a limited evidentiary hearing on several of Mr. Melton's claims (PCR. 1191-93). On February 11, 2002, Mr. Melton amended his Rule 3.850 motion (PCR. 1365-1558). On February 13-15, 2002, the circuit court held an evidentiary hearing.

The evidentiary hearing involved several issues, including claims based upon ineffective assistance of counsel at the guilt and penalty phases, <u>Brady/Giglio</u>, and newly discovered evidence of innocence. With regard to the ineffective assistance claim at the penalty phase, Frankie Stoutemire, Sr., Antonio Melton's father, testified that he

-7

was in the service when Antonio was raised (T. 558). While Stoutemire would have visits with Antonio (T. 559-60), Antonio's mother was living with David Booker at the time (T. 560).<sup>6</sup> It seemed that every time Stoutemire came home to see his son, Antonio's mother would get repercussions from Booker (T. 561).

Stoutemire had heard that Booker was abusing Antonio's mother (T. 560).<sup>7</sup> This led to a confrontation with Booker. Stoutemire told him that "if he ever touched my son, it was going to be me and him out on the street." (T. 560).

Stoutemire recalled a conversation where Antonio told him he was out of school and couldn't get a real job (T. 563). Stoutemire advised him to join the service and get out of town (T. 563). Antonio shook his head and that was the last time Stoutemire saw him (T. 563). According to Stoutemire, the religion that Antonio's mom believed in did not agree with going into the military (T. 563). Antonio's mom had raised him, so Stoutemire backed off (T. 563). Stoutemire lamented that Antonio didn't have any guidance his whole life (T. 564).

Latricia Davis, Mr. Melton's mother, testified that the family had lived in subsidized housing called Truman Arms (T. 661-62), which was a rough, bad place (T.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>They lived in the projects (T. 562).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>He also knew that Booker was a heroine addict (T. 561).

662). Davis was strict with Antonio because she didn't want him turning out like a lot of the young people that she was seeing around (T. 663). She did what she could being a single, working parent (T. 663). Davis had been married to David Booker, who had a drug problem (T. 666). This caused many problems at home, and Booker was verbally and physically abusive (T. 667).

Later on during Antonio's youth, Davis became active in the Jehovah's Witness Church (T. 669). She tried to get Antonio to live that type of lifestyle, because she thought it was best for him (T. 669). This involved keeping him away from school activities (T. 670).

Finally, Davis took Antonio out of school when he was 16 years old because of the bad associations that he was exposed to (T. 664). Ben Lewis was one of the people that Davis didn't want her son hanging around with at school (T. 666). Antonio looked up to these kids because he was sheltered and they had so much street knowledge (T. 664). Lewis, for example, seemed so much wiser and street smart (T. 666).

When Antonio was 16, Davis got married and moved to Mobile, Alabama (T. 663). Antonio stayed with his grandmother and aunt in Pensacola, Florida (T. 665).

Davis spoke to trial counsel prior to the penalty phase (T. 668). Counsel didn't ask about Davis trying to keep Antonio away from unsupervised children in the projects

-9

(T. 668). According to Davis, postconviction counsel asked about more details than trial counsel (T. 684).

Margaret Parker, Mr. Melton's aunt, testified that Mr. Melton would sometimes stay with her after he was 16 years old (T. 746). Parker noted that after Antonio's mom moved, he was out more often (T. 748). According to Parker, Antonio was less mature than other children his age (T. 752), and he trusted other kids (T. 753). Parker observed that in regard to Antonio, Ben Lewis, and Tony Houston, it was Houston who seemed to be the leader of the group, then Lewis (T. 749).<sup>8</sup> No one from Antonio's defense team ever spoke to Parker (T. 750-51). Had they done so, she would have spoken to them about the information she provided during her testimony (T. 754).

Lawrence Gilgun, a clinical psychologist, evaluated Mr. Melton on January, 28, 1992, approximately one week before Mr. Melton's trial (T. 310). Dr. Gilgun acknowledged during his evidentiary hearing testimony that this was not standard practice, and that usually, he would be involved at least two months before trial (T. 310).

Dr. Gilgun noted that his bill did not reflect any discussions with the trial attorney (T. 311, D-Ex. 11). He would have recorded a face to face meeting on his bill (T. 311). While Dr. Gilgun did not recall independently what records were provided to him, he spoke of evaluating school

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Lewis and Houston were bother older than Antonio (T. 749).

records and depositions in his penalty phase testimony (T. 312). However, he was not provided with Mr. Melton's statement to the police, nor did he speak to any of Mr. Melton's family or friends (T. 312). Trial counsel did not supply any of this information to him, nor any information about Mr. Melton's upbringing (T. 312).<sup>9</sup>

Dr. Gilgun did not know what trial counsel's plan was regarding the penalty phase (T. 339). Usually, he would discuss these things with the attorney (T. 340). Dr. Gilgun concluded that if he had been given more information, he could have potentially given more mitigation (T. 341).

Dr. Henry Dee is a clinical psychologist with a subspecialty in clinical neuropsychology (T. 367). Dr. Dee saw Mr. Melton in January 1996 and again in November 2001 for approximately 14 hours (T. 369-70). During this time, he conducted a neuropsychological evaluation and extensive interviewing (T. 370). According to Dr. Dee, Mr. Melton was very open and seemed to be genuinely remorseful (T. 379).<sup>10</sup>

Dr. Dee reviewed discovery materials, school records, juvenile records, a previous evaluation by Dr. Gilgun, the Florida Supreme Court appeal, and witness testimony at the penalty phase of the Carter trial (T. 370-71). Dr. Dee

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Dr. Gilgun explained that the importance of other materials is for corroboration (T. 313). Also, these materials help him to structure his interview and to elicit more information (T. 313).

 $<sup>^{\</sup>mbox{\tiny 10}}\mbox{Mr.}$  Melton denied any involvement in the Saylor case (T. 379).

spoke to Mr. Melton's mother, his aunt Margaret Faye Johnson, Latricia Davis and his father, Frankie Stoutemire (T. 380). Dr. Dee expressed his belief that this material is necessary to investigate the issue of mitigation, and it is also helpful to have independent corroborative evidence (T. 371).

While Mr. Melton didn't have any brain damage, Dr. Dee did find evidence of other mitigation (T. 372). Mr. Melton had an unusual childhood (T. 373). He was in a sense overprotected (T. 373). Dr. Dee explained that Mr. Melton's mother was a Jehovah's witness and she involved him in this religion (T. 373). While Mr. Melton had been a gifted athlete when he was younger, his mother forced him to give it up and be more and more involved in intensive Bible study (T. 373). Also, she withdrew him from athletics in part because she didn't care for the influence of peers (T. 374). By the time he reached middle adolescence, Mr. Melton was fairly isolated from his peers (T. 374).<sup>11</sup>

With regard to emotional maturity, Mr. Melton was a strikingly immature boy for 18 (T. 381). By the time he entered high school, he had almost no social contact (T. 381). Dr. Dee felt that Mr. Melton could be easily

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Dr. Dee explained that Davis worked a lot to support Mr. Melton and his brother (T. 373). Thus, from a fairly young age, Antonio was taking care of his brother after school (T. 373).

manipulated (T. 383).<sup>12</sup> That's why his mother didn't want him around the locker room and withdrew him from football (T. 383).

According to Dr. Dee's evaluation, Mr. Melton went from a situation of being isolated and/or in the church to being with a bunch of criminals by the time he got to high school (T. 374). Mr. Melton immediately fell in with these people (T. 374). He began to skip school, use drugs, and talk back (T. 374).

As a result of this, Davis withdrew her son from school at age 16 (T. 374). She gave him a choice of either conforming to everything she believed in or to move out (T. 375). From then until the time he was arrested, Mr. Melton would sometimes be with his grandmother or aunt (T. 375). During the two years prior to his arrest, Mr. Melton had essentially no supervision (T. 378).

Dr. Dee commented that Mr. Melton's stepfather was a very harsh man (T. 375). He was abusive towards Davis in front of Antonio (T. 376), to the point where he broke her arm (T. 376). Mr. Melton's stepfather used heroin and would bring other women into the house in front of him (T. 376). It was frankly grossly immoral conduct and probably shocking to a young child (T. 376).

 $<sup>^{^{12}}\</sup>mathrm{Mr.}$  Melton viewed Lewis and Houston as more sophisticated than himself (T. 383).

Dr. Dee testified that Mr. Melton's father did not have much contact with him (T. 376). He went into the Service for about three years at the time Mr. Melton was born (T. 376). He injured his back badly and had to have a series of operations (T. 376-77). By the time he returned, his son was already an adolescent and living with his grandmother (T. 377). Unfortunately, Mr. Melton's only male role model was an abusive heroin addict (T. 377).

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