In the Supreme Court of Florida

ANTONIO LEBARON MELTON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC11-973

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.___/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

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

The successive motion was untimely. The motion was filed sixteen years late and there is no exception to the time limitation in the rule that applies. *Porter* did not change the law governing ineffective assistance of counsel claims. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984), was, and remains, the law regarding ineffectiveness.

Furthermore, the motion is barred by the law of the case doctrine. This Court rejected the same type of argument in *Marek v. State*, 8 So.3d 1123 (Fla. 2009), and prohibited relitigation. As this Court held in *Marek*, capital defendants may not relitigate previously denied claims of ineffectiveness every time a new Supreme Court case is decided applying *Strickland*.

Even if this Court were to allow relitigation of the claim, it should be rejected on the merits. This is case not similar to the facts of *Porter*. In *Porter*, defense counsel failed to uncover and present the defendant's combat experience that resulted in PTSD. Here, in contrast, Melton was never in the military. Melton never

- 6 -

served his country. Nor was there any prejudice for the same reason. Thus, the successive *Porter* motion was properly summarily denied as untimely, barred by the law of the case doctrine, and meritless.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE SUCCESSIVE 3.851 MOTION ATTEMPTING TO RELITIGATE A CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVENESS FOR FAILING TO PRESENT GENERAL BACKGROUND AS MITIGATION BASED ON *PORTER V. MCCOLLUM*, 558 U.S. -, 130 S.Ct. 447, 175 L.Ed.2d 398 (2009)? (Restated)

Melton asserts that this Court's prejudice analysis of his claim of ineffectiveness for failing to present general background information in the initial post-conviction motion was flawed based on Porter v. McCollum, 558 U.S. -, 130 S.Ct. 447, 175 L.Ed.2d 398 (2009). First, the successive motion was untimely. The motion was filed sixteen (16) years late and there is no exception to the time limitation in the rule that applies. Furthermore, the motion is barred by the law of the case doctrine. As this Court held in Marek, capital defendants may not relitigate previously denied claims of ineffectiveness every time a new Supreme Court case is decided applying Strickland. Even if this Court were to allow relitigation of the claim, it should be rejected on the merits. In Porter, defense counsel failed to uncover and present the defendant's combat experience in horrific battles that resulted in PTSD. Melton was never in the service, much less in any horrific combat. He did not serve his country in combat or otherwise. The vast majority of the Porter Court's reasoning simply does not apply to Melton. Thus, the successive Porter motion was properly summarily denied.

- 8 -

The trial court's ruling

On November 29, 2010, registry counsel, Todd Doss, filed a third successive 3.851 post-conviction motion in the trial court asserting that he should be permitted to relitigate a previously raised claim of ineffectiveness for failing to present background as mitigation based on *Porter*. (R. Vol. 1 1-21). The State filed an answer to the third successive motion asserting that it was untimely, barred by the law of the case doctrine, and meritless because Melton was never in the military. (R. Vol. 1 22-55). On February 28, 2011, the trial court conducted a case management conference at which the trial court heard the arguments of counsel. (R. Vol. 1 63-84). On April 11, 2011, the trial court entered a written order denying the third successive motion. (R. Vol. 1 100-111).

The trial court summarily denied the successive motion. The trial court first concluded that *Porter* was not retroactive noting that *Porter* "has not been held to apply retroactively." (R. Vol. 1 103). Therefore, the trial court ruled that the motion was untimely. (R. Vol. 1 103). The trial court, alternatively, concluded that Melton would be entitled to no relief under *Porter* because in this case, the trial court had found no deficient performance unlike the situation in *Porter*. (R. Vol. 1 103-104).

Standard of review

The standard of review of a trial court's summary denial of a successive 3.851 post-conviction motion is *de novo*. *Darling v. State*, 45 So.3d 444, 447 (Fla. 2010)(explaining that because a trial court summary denial is based on the pleadings before it, its ruling is

- 9 -

tantamount to a pure question of law and is subject to de novo review discussing *Ventura v. State*, 2 So.3d 194 (Fla. 2009)).

Rule 3.851(f)(5)(B) permits the denial of a successive postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing "[i]f the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief." The phrase "conclusively show" is not limited to factual matters; the phrase also allows a summary denial as a matter of law. For example, if there is controlling precedent from this Court that is directly on point, then a trial court may summarily deny the successive motion. This Court has routinely affirmed summary denials of lethal injection claims on this basis. *See e.g. Tompkins v. State*, 994 So.2d 1072, 1081 (Fla. 2008)(noting that this "Court has repeatedly rejected appeals from summary denials of Eighth Amendment challenges to Florida's August 2007 lethal injection protocol since the issuance of *Lightbourne*" citing cases). A trial court may decided as a matter of law that the movant is entitled to no relief as this trial court properly did.

Timeliness

The successive 3.851 post-conviction motion was untimely. The rule of criminal procedure governing collateral relief in capital cases contains a time limitation that requires any post-conviction motion be filed within one year. The motion is untimely pursuant to 3.851(d)(1)(B).³ Under the rule any post-conviction motion must

³ Specifically, rule 3.851(d)(1), provides: (1) Any motion to vacate judgment of conviction and sentence of death shall be filed by the prisoner within 1

be filed within one year of Melton's convictions and sentence becoming final. Melton's convictions and sentence became final on November 1, 1994, the day after the United States Supreme Court denied his petition for writ of certiorari in the direct appeal. *Melton v*. *Florida*, 513 U.S. 971, 115 S.Ct. 441, 130 L.Ed.2d 352 (1994). The third successive motion was filed in November of 2010. The successive motion was over sixteen years late.

The rule contains three exceptions to the time limitation, none of which apply. The Florida Supreme Court has held that *Porter* did not supply a basis for a newly discovered evidence claim and did not restart the clock. *Grossman v. State*, 29 So.3d 1034, 1042 (Fla. 2010)(finding a trial court's summary denial of a third successive

year after the judgment and sentence become final. For the purposes of this rule, a judgment is final:

(A) on the expiration of the time permitted to file in the United States Supreme Court a petition for writ of certiorari seeking review of the Supreme Court of Florida decision affirming a judgment and sentence of death (90 days after the opinion becomes final); or
(B) on the disposition of the petition for writ of certiorari by the United States Supreme Court, if filed.

(2) No motion shall be filed or considered pursuant to this rule if filed beyond the time limitation provided in subdivision (d)(1) unless it alleges:

(A) the facts on which the claim is predicated were unknown to the movant or the movant's attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence, or

(B) the fundamental constitutional right asserted was not established within the period provided for in subdivision (d)(1) and has been held to apply retroactively, or

(C) postconviction counsel, through neglect, failed to file the motion.

motion to be proper and affirming that the motion was untimely because Porter did not change the law regarding consideration of non-statutory mitigation and was not newly discovered evidence). So, controlling precedent holds that the exception for new facts in 3.851(d)(1)(B) does not apply.

Melton is attempting to use the exception in rule 3.851(d)(2)(B), which restarts the clock for a new fundamental constitutional right that has been held to apply retroactively. Melton asserts that *Porter* is a new fundamental constitutional right that applies retroactively. It is not.

In Porter, the Supreme Court per curiam reversed the Eleventh Circuit's finding that the Florida Supreme Court's determination there was no prejudice was a reasonable application of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Agreeing with the district court, the Supreme Court was persuaded that it was objectively unreasonable to conclude there was no reasonable probability the sentence would have been different if the sentencing judge and jury had heard the significant mitigation evidence that Porter's counsel neither uncovered nor presented. Porter did not establish a new constitutional right. Rather, it is merely an application of Strickland to a particular case. The Porter Court merely found prejudice under the existing prejudice framework. Contrary to Melton's assertion, the Supreme Court in Porter did not change the prejudice analysis - dramatically or otherwise. A claim that counsel was ineffective in violation of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel was, is, and remains, governed by Strickland v. Washington,

- 12 -

466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) including the prejudice prong. Porter did not overrule Strickland. The Porter Court itself repeatedly referred to Strickland and therefore, reaffirmed the Strickland standard. Porter contains several paragraphs describing the Strickland standard which cited Strickland repeatedly. Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 452-454. This section of the Porter opinion starts with the sentence: "To prevail under Strickland, Porter must show that his counsel's deficient performance prejudiced him" and then cites Strickland six times. Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 452. The Porter opinion ends by once again by citing Strickland. Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 456. The Porter Court did not at any point change the prejudice prong of Strickland.

Moreover, the United States Supreme Court had repeatedly referred to the Strickland standard in numerous opinions since Porter. Cullen v. Pinholster, - U.S. -, -, 131 S.Ct. 1388, 1408, 179 L.Ed.2d 557 (2011)(observing that the "Strickland standard must be applied with scrupulous care."); Harrington v. Richter, - U.S. -, -, 131 S.Ct. 770, 787, 178 L.Ed.2d 624 (2011)(discussing the Strickland standard). Additionally, this Court has recently discussed the standard for ineffectiveness citing Porter in support of its discussion of the Strickland standard in numerous cases. Hildwin v. State, - So.3d -, -, 2011 WL 2149987 (Fla. 2011); Franqui v. State, 59 So.3d 82, 94-95 (Fla. 2011); Troy v. State, 57 So.3d 828, 836 (Fla. 2011). In one of those cases, this Court stated: "Strickland does not require a defendant to show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome of his penalty proceeding, but rather that

- 13 -

he establish a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in that outcome. Porter v. McCollum, - U.S. -, -, 130 S.Ct. 447, 455-56, 175 L.Ed.2d 398 (2009)(quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693-94)." Troy, 57 So.3d at 836. The Florida Supreme Court obviously does not think that Porter overruled Strickland. Melton cites no appellate court decision from any court as describing Porter as overruling or significantly altering Strickland. Porter did not alter the existing Strickland standard in any manner.

Melton attempts to distinguish between "new federal law" and "new Florida law." IB at 42, n.46. There is no such distinction. When the Supreme Court disagrees with this Court in a *Strickland* case, that does not change the law of *Strickland*.

Melton's reliance on *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393, 107 S.Ct. 1821, 95 L.Ed.2d 347 (1987), is misplaced. In *Hitchcock*, the United States Supreme Court concluded that Florida's law regarding consideration of non-statutory mitigation was unconstitutional. The Court held that Florida practice violated established Eighth Amendment jurisprudence. In *Porter*, by contrast, the United States Supreme Court did not hold that Florida practice violated the Sixth Amendment. *Hitchcock* was systemic; *Porter* was not. *Porter* was case-specific. *Hitchcock* is simply not an analogous situation.

Furthermore, the Florida Supreme Court has directly held, in this context, the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel context, that refinements or clarifications in *Strickland* jurisprudence are not retroactive. *Johnston v. Moore*, 789 So. 2d 262, 266-267 (Fla. 2001)(holding that *Stephens v. State*, 748 So.2d 1028,

- 14 -

1033-1034 (Fla. 1999), which clarified the standard to be used in reviewing ineffective assistance of counsel claims, was not retroactive under *Witt v. State*, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980)). In the earlier case of *Stephens v. State*, 748 So.2d 1028, 1033-1034 (Fla. 1999), this Court clarified the standard of review that applied to *Strickland* claims of ineffectiveness. But *Porter* did not even involve a clarification or refinement of the law like *Stephens*. Rather, *Porter* was a mere application of standard law to a particular case. Melton does not cite or distinguish *Johnston*. As the trial court correctly determined, the successive motion was untimely.

Law of the case

The claim of ineffectiveness raised in the successive 3.851 motion is barred by the law of the case doctrine. Under the law of the case doctrine, questions of law actually decided on appeal govern the case through all subsequent stages of the proceedings. *Florida Dep't of Transp. v. Juliano*, 801 So.2d 101, 105 (Fla. 2001). A defendant cannot relitigate claims that have been denied by the trial court where that denial has been affirmed by an appellate court. *State v. McBride*, 848 So.2d 287, 289-290 (Fla. 2003)(noting that the law of the case doctrine applies to post-conviction motions); *Tatum v. State*, 27 So.3d 700, 704 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2010)(finding the claims in a 3.800 motion to be barred by the law of the case doctrine because they were previously addressed by the Third District in an earlier appeal). As the Florida Supreme Court has explained, if a matter has already been decided, the petitioner has already had his or her day

- 15 -

in court, and for purposes of judicial economy, that matter generally will not be reexamined again in any court. *Topps v. State*, 865 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 2004).

Melton is seeking to relitigate the exact same ineffectiveness claim in this successive post-conviction motion that he raised in his first post-conviction motion. Melton is once again claiming that his defense counsel, Chief Assistant Public defender Terry Terrell, failed to investigate and present general background information including his unusual and isolated social isolation which left him immature for his age. That same claim of ineffectiveness for failing to present this general background as mitigation was raised in the initial post-conviction motion. This court rejected that particular claim of ineffectiveness. Melton v. State, 949 So.2d 994, 1004-1005 (Fla. 2006). This court rejected a claim that defense counsel was ineffective for failing "to paint a complete picture of Melton's life" including "evidence of his unusual and isolated childhood" in the post-conviction appeal. This Court explained defense counsel Terrell "presented both of Melton's parents at the penalty phase, who offered testimony regarding Melton's lack of a father figure, the strict religious environment at home, Melton's abusive stepfather, and Melton's choice to leave home at the age of sixteen." This Court noted that "other witnesses testified as to Melton's sheltered childhood, the dangerous environment in which he was raised, and the fact that he lived basically on his own after leaving home." This Court found no prejudice because "while the additional evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing certainly could have been

- 16 -

offered at trial to paint a more complete picture of Melton's childhood," "the evidence presented below essentially mirrors the evidence presented by trial counsel during the penalty phase." *Melton v. State*, 949 So.2d at 1004-1005. Melton may not relitigate the same claim for a second time after this Court affirmed. The entire successive motion is barred by the law of the case doctrine.

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